NO. 2010-M-819-SCT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RENNIE T. GIBBS,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

	Appellee.
On Grant of Interlocutory A	Appeal from the Circuit Court of Lowndes County
BRIE	EF OF THE APPELLANT

Oral Argument Requested

ROBERT B. MCDUFF Miss. Bar No. 767 North Congress Street Jackson, Mississippi 39202 Telephone: (601) 969-0802 Email: rbm@mcdufflaw.com

CARRIE A. JOURDAN
Miss. Bar No.
PO Box 1108
Columbus, MS 39703-1108
Telephone: (662) 241-5191
Email: jourdanlaw@bellsouth.net

Counsel for Rennie T. Gibbs

LYNN PALTROW

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

AT&T v. Hulteen, 129 S. Ct. 1962 (2009)
Bouie v. Columbia, 378 U.S. 347 (1964)
Carey v. Population Servs. Int'l, 431 U.S. 678 (1977)
<u>City of Chicago v. Morales</u> , 527 U.S. 41 (1999)
Cochran v. Commonwealth, 315 S.W.3d 325 (Ky. 2010)
Collins v. State, 890 S.W.2d 893 (Tx. App. 1994)
Commonwealth v. Welch, 864 S.W.2d 280 (Ky. 1995)
Cramp v. Board of Public Instruction, 368 U.S. 278 (1961)
Edwards v. State, 800 So.2d 454 (Miss. 2001)
Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 (1982)
Ex parte Perales, 215 S.W.3d 418 (Tex. Crim. App. 2007)
Ferguson v. City of Charleston, 532 U.S. 67 (2001)
Finn v. State, 978 So.2d 1270 (Miss. 2008)
Giaccio v. Pennsylvania, 382 U.S. 399 (1966)
Gunter v. City of Jackson, 130 Miss. 637, 94 So. 844 (1923)
Herron v. State, 729 N.E.2d 1008 (Ind. Ct. App. 2000)
Int'l Union v. Johnson Controls Inc., 886 F.2d 871 (7th Cir. 1989)
Johnson v. State, 602 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 1992)passim
Kennington v. Hemingway, 57 So. 809 (Miss. 1912)
Kilmon v. State. 905 A.2d 306 (Md. 2006)

<u>Kirchberg v. Feenstra</u> , 450 U.S. 455 (1981)
<u>Lanzetta v. New Jersey</u> , 306 U.S. 451 (1939)
<u>Lewis v. State</u> , 765 So.2d 493 (Miss. 2000)
McKlemurry v. State, 417 So.2d 554, 555 (Miss. 1982)
McKnight v. State, 661 S.E.2d 354, 358 n.2 (S.C. 2008)
McLamb v. State, 456 So. 2d 743, 745 (Miss. 1984)
Mississippi Uni. for Women v. Hogan, 458 U.S. 718 (1982)
Nashville Gas Co. v. Satty, 434 U.S. 136 (1977)
<u>Pattison v. Clinghan,</u> 47 So. 503 (1908)
Paz v. Brush Engineered Materials, Inc., 949 So.2d 1 (Miss. 2007)
People v. Hardy, 469 N.W.2d 50 (Mich. App. 1991)
Planned Parenthood v. Casey, 505 U.S. 833 (1992)
<u>Pro Choice Miss. v. Fordice</u> , 716 So. 2d 645 (Miss. 1998)
Reinesto v. Superior Court, 894 P.2d 733 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1995)
Reyes v. Superior Court, 141 Cal. Rptr. 912 (Cal. Ct. App. 1997)
Robinson v. California, 370 U.S. 660 (1962)
Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113 (1973) passim
Romer v. Evans, 517 U.S. 620 (1996)
<u>State v. Aiwohi</u> , 123 P.3d 1210 (Haw. 2005)
<u>State v. Deborah J.Z.</u> , 596 N.W. 2d 490 (Wis. Ct. App. 1999)
<u>State v. Dunn</u> , 916 P.2d 952 (Wash. Appl. 1996)
State v. Geiser, 763 N.W.2d 469 (N.D. 2009)

State v. Gethers, 585 So.2d 1140 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1991)
State v. Gray, 584 N.E.2d 710 (Ohio 1992)22
State v. Greywind, No. CR-92-447 (N.D. Cass County Ct. Apr. 10, 1992)
State v. Luster, 419 S.E.2d 32 (Ga. Ct. App. 1992)
State v. Martinez, 137 P.3d 1195 (N.M. Ct. App. 2006)
State v. McKnight, 576 S.E. 2d 168 (S.C. 2003)
State v. Traylor, 56 So. 521 (Miss. 1911)
State v. Wade, 232 S. W. 3d 663 (Mo. 2007)
<u>Tipton v. State</u> , 41 So. 3d 679 (Miss. 2010)
<u>Tutweiler v. Jones</u> , 394 So.2d 1346 (Miss. 1981)
<u>United State v. Smith</u> , 359 F. Supp. 2d 771 (E.D. Wis. 2005)
Whitner v. State, 492 S.E.2d 777 (S.C. 1997)
Young v. Jackson, 572 So.2d 378 (Miss. 1990)
CODES, STATUTES, RULES, AND LEGISLATION
U.S. Const. amend. VIII
15 U.S.C. § 1333 (a)(1)
Miss. Const. art. 1§2
Miss. Const. art. 3 §28
Miss. Const. art. 3 §16
Miss. Code Ann. § 1-3-65 (2010)
Miss. Code Ann. § 41-4-1 (2010)
Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-45 (2010)

Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-73 (2010)
Miss. Code. Ann. § 41-89-5 (2010)
Miss. Code Ann. § 41-117-3 (2010)
Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19 (2008)
Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-37 (2008)
Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-39 (2010)
Miss. Code Ann. § 97-5-39
Miss. Code Ann. § 99-19-83
Op. Atty. Gen. No. 2007-00182, April 16, 2007, 2007 WL 1725165 (Miss. A.G.)
H.B. 923, 2000 Leg. Reg. Sess. (Miss. 2000)
H.B. 1393, 2002 Leg. Reg. Sess. (Miss. 2002)
S.B. 2123, 2002 Leg. Reg. Sess. (Miss. 2002)
S.B. 2221, 1999 Leg. Reg. Sess. (Miss. 1999)
S.B. 2314, 2000 Leg. Reg. Sess. (Miss. 2000)
S.B. 2602, 1998 Leg. Reg. Sess. (Miss. 1998)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Am. Coll. Obstetricians & Gynecologists, Maternal Decision Making, Ethics, and the Law, ACOG Committee Opinion, No. 321 (2005)
Am. Med. Ass'n, Legal Interventions During Pregnancy: Court-Ordered Medical Treatments and Legal Penalties for Potentially Harmful Behavior by Pregnant Women, 264 JAMA 2663, 2667 (1990)
American Nurses Ass'n, Position Statement On Opposition to Criminal Prosecution of Women for Use of Drugs While Pregnant and Support for Treatment Services for Alcohol and Drug Dependent Women of Childbearing Age (1991)

American Psychiatric Ass'n, APA Document Reference No. 200101, Position Statement: Care of Pregnant and Newly Delivered Women Addicts (2001)
Brian T. Bateman & Lynn L. Simpson, Higher rate of stillbirth at the extremes of reproductive age: A Large nationwide Sample of Deliveries in the United States, 194 Am. J. of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 840-45 (2006)
Heather Boerner, Plus-Size Pregnancy.http://www.plannedparenthood.org/issues-action/std-hiv/obese-pregnancy-10350.htm30
T.A. Campbell & K.A. Collins, Pediatric Toxicologic Deaths: A 10-Year Retrospective Study, 22 Am. J. Forensic Med. & Pathology 184, 189 (2001)29
Committee on Scientific Evaluation of WIC Nutrition Risk Criteria, Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, Summary of WIC nutrition risk criteria: A scientific assessment, 96 Journal of the American Dietetic Association 9, at 925 (September 1996)
Committee On Substance Abuse, Am. Acad. Of Pediatrics, Drug Exposed Infants, 86 Pediatrics 639, 642 (1990)
Tom Corwin, Nicotine's Effects on Babies Called Serious: Study Claims Smoking by Pregnant Women Causes More Birth Defects that Cocaine Use, The Augusta Chronicle, June 3, 1998, at A.1
Environmental Protection Agency, What You Need to Know about Mercury in Fish and Shellfish, available at http://www.epa.gov/waterscience/fish/files/MethylmercuryBrochure.pdf30
Deborah Frank et al., Growth, Development, and Behavior in Early Childhood Following Prenatal Cocaine Exposure: A Systematic Review, 285 JAMA 1613, 1620-21 (2001)
R.L. Goldenberg, Stillbirth: A Review, 16 J. Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Med. 79, 79 (2004) 30
David Gutierrez, Flame retardants alter thyroid hormones in pregnant women, NaturalNews.com, Oct. 19, 2010
Martha A. Jessup, Janice C. Humphreys, Claire D. Brindis & Kathryn A. Lee, Extrinsic Barriers to Substance Abuse Treatment Among Pregnant Drug Dependent Women, J. Drug Issues (2003).
Karol Kaltenbach, Vincenzo Berghella & Loretta Finnegan, Opiod Dependence During Pregnancy, 25 Obstetrics & Gynecology Clinics 139, 145 (1998)

Stephen R. Kandall & Wendy Chavkin, Illicit Drugs in America: History, Impact on Women and Infants, and Treatment Strategies for Women, 43 Hastings L.J. 615, 629 n. 136 (1992)
Y. Kelly et al., Light drinking during pregnancy: still no increased risk for socioemotional difficulties or cognitive deficits at 5 years of age?, J. Epidemiol Community Health (2010)28
Denise Mann, BPA in Pregnancy: Cashiers, Canned Veggie Eaters Beware? Study Shows Higher Levels of the Chemical Bisphenol A in Pregnant Cashiers and Pregnant Women Exposed to Canned Foods, available at http://www.webmd.com/baby/news/20101008/bpa-im-pregnancy-cashiers30-
March of Dimes, Folic acid for a healthy pregnancy and baby, available at http://www.marchofdimes.com/printableArticles/folicacid.html30
March of Dimes, Quick Reference Fact Sheets, Drinking Alcohol During Pregnancy, at 1, available at http://www.marchofdimes.com/professionals/14332_1170.asp
March of Dimes, Statement on Maternal Drug Abuse 1 (1990)
Mississippi State Dep't of Health, 2006 Mississippi Youth Tobacco Survey at 7 http://msdh.ms.gov/msdhsite/index.cfm/31,3318,303,pdf/YouthTobaccoSurvey2006%2Epdf28
Mississippi State Dep't of Health, Mississippi PRAMS Surveillance Report 2006 at 47, available at http://www.msdh.ms.gov/msdhsite/_static/resources/3145.pdf
Miss. Dep't Health, Vital Statistics Mississippi B4 (2006), available at http://www.msdh.state.ms.us/phs/2006/Bulletin/vs2006.pdf
Sheigla Murphy & Marsha Rosenbaum, Pregnant Women on Drugs: Combating Stereotypes and Stigma, 83 (Rutgers Univ. Press 1999)
National Counsel on Alcoholism & Drug Dependence, Women, Alcohol, Other Drugs and Pregnancy (1990)
National Institute on Drug Abuse, Department of Health and Human Services, Principles of Drug Addiction Treatment: A Research-Based Guide Second Edition 14 (2009)14
National Perinatal Ass'n, Position Paper: Substance Abuse Among Women, available at http://www.nationalperinatal.org/advocacy.php#statements
Physician Leadership on National Drug Policy, Position Paper on Drug Policy, 11 (2000)14

S. C. M. Roberts & C. Pies, Complex Calculations: How Drug Use During Pregnancy Becomes a Barrier to Prenatal Care, Matern. Child Health J. (2010)
Lisa Rosenblum, Mandating Effective Treatment for Drug Offenders, 53 Hastings L.J. 1217, 1228 (2002)
M.A. Sims & K.A. Collins, Fetal Death: A 10-Year Retrospective Study, 22 Am. J. Forensic Med. & Pathology 261, 264 (2001)
Southern Reg'l Project on Infant Mortality, A Step Toward Recovery: Improving Access to Substance Abuse Treatment for Pregnant and Parenting Women 21 (1993)
Sally Squires, Pregnant Women Get Green Light to Exercise; New Guidelines Stress the Benefits for Most Mothers-to-Be, The Washington Post, Jan. 18, 1994, at Z731
B. Steinbock, The McCaughey Septuplets: Medical Miracle or Gambling with Fertility Drugs?, in ETHICAL ISSUES IN MONDERN MEDICINE 375 (5th ed., J. Arras 7 B. Steinbock, eds. 1999)
Lauren Streicher, Pregnant? Know risks if traveling, skiing, Chicago Sun-Times, Nov. 19, 2004, at 67
Tobacco Use; Smoking During Pregnancy Is Preventable Risk Factor for Unsuccessful Outcome, Health & Medicine Week, Jul. 26, 2004, at 8
Suzanne C. Tough et al., Delayed Childbearing and Its impact on Population Rate Changes in Lower Birth Weight, Multiple Birth, and Preterm Delivery, 109 Pediatrics, 3 (2002)31
United States Sentencing Commission, Report to Congress: Cocaine and Federal Sentencing Policy 21, 29 (May 2002), available at http://www.ussc.gov/r_congress/02crack/2002crackrpt.htm
Harry K. Wexler, Gregory P. Falkin & Douglas S. Lipton, Outcome Evaluation of a Prison Therapeutic Community for Substance Abuse Treatment, 17 Crim. Just. & Behav. 71 (1990)
K. Wisborg, et al., Exposure to Tobacco Smoke in Utero and the Risk of Stillbirth and Death in the First Year of Life, 154 AM. J. EPIDEMIOLOGY 322, 324 (2001) 28

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Although the non-capital murder statute, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(1) specifically provides that "[t]he killing of a human being . . . shall be murder . . . (d) [w]hen done with deliberate design to effect the death of an unborn child," there is no reference to "unborn child[ren]" in the depraved heart section of that statute, 97-3-19(1)(b). Moreover, the "unborn child" offenses statute, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-37, specifically provides that an "unborn child" can be the victim of assault, capital murder, and certain types of manslaughter, but not depraved heart murder. The issues presented in this appeal are:

- 1. Does Mississippi's depraved heart murder statute, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(1)(b), apply to a pregnant woman who suffered a stillbirth?
- 2. Would applying the depraved heart murder statute to women who suffer stillbirths violate due process or render the statute void for vagueness because it fails to give fair notice of this application, or otherwise violate the Mississippi or United States constitutions?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Rennie Gibbs suffered a stillbirth on November 12, 2006. She had turned sixteen one month earlier. Just over a month after the stillbirth, she was arrested on the basis of an autopsy by Dr. Steven Hayne. On February 4, 2007, the indictment in this case was issued in Lowndes County, Mississippi, charging her with depraved heart murder and claiming she "kill[ed] her unborn child, a human being, while engaged in the commission of an act eminently dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart, by using cocaine while pregnant with her unborn child... in violation of MCA § 97-3-19.... "Record Excerpts Document 3.

Through her counsel, Ms. Gibbs filed a motion to dismiss the indictment in the Circuit Court

of Lowndes County. The motion argued that there had been no reported cases and no media reports showing that the State of Mississippi had ever applied the depraved-heart homicide statute to a pregnant woman who suffered a stillbirth or miscarriage, that the language of the depraved heart murder statute did not encompass the death of an unborn child or the actions or omissions of a pregnant woman, that the legislature never intended for that statute to encompass the actions or omissions of a pregnant woman, and that the state and federal constitutions prohibited courts from rewriting the statute to cover a case like this. The motion was supported by an amicus brief filed on behalf of 16 public health and child welfare organizations and experts.

The trial court denied the motion on April 23, 2010, but indicated that this "case of first impression" should be the subject of interlocutory review. Record Excerpts Document 2. Counsel for Ms. Gibbs filed a Petition for Permission to File Interlocutory Appeal in this Court. This petition was also supported by an amicus brief on behalf of public health and child welfare organizations and experts. This Court, on June 16, 2010, granted the petition and accepted review of this case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There are no reported cases, and we have found no media reports, showing that the State of Mississippi has ever applied the depraved-heart homicide statute to a pregnant woman who suffered a stillbirth or miscarriage. For several reasons, it is clear that the statute does not apply to this case and that the indictment must be dismissed:

1. Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(1) contains four subsections describing types of non-capital murder for the "killing of a human being." Subsection (a) covers "deliberate design to effect the death of the person killed, or of any human being." Subsection (b) covers "an act eminently

dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart . . . although without any premeditated design to effect the death of any particular individual." Subsection (c) covers unintentional killings occurring during the course of certain felonies. Subsection (d) covers "deliberate design to effect the death of an unborn child." (Emphasis added). (A copy of the statute is contained in Appendix A-1, which is filed separately from this brief). In other words, the only subsection of § 97-3-19(1) that applies to "the death of an unborn child" requires a "deliberate design." The "depraved heart" subsection does not cover the death of an unborn child.

- 2. A separate statutory section, Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-37, lists specific "offenses" for which "the term 'human being' includes an unborn child." Those offenses include "simple and aggravated assault and domestic violence," "capital murder," and various types of manslaughter. They do not include non-capital murder. (App. A-2). Indeed, the Mississippi Attorney General has issued an opinion stating if a "statute is not included in the list of crimes set forth in Section 97-3-37," that unlisted statute "does not apply to an unborn child being present in the mother's womb." Thus, the only part of the non-capital murder statute that applies to an "unborn child" is, as explained above, § 97-3-19(1)(d) involving "deliberate design to effect the death of an unborn child." The deprayed heart portion of the statute does not apply.
- 3. Even for those offenses that specifically cover an "unborn child," such as capital murder and certain types of manslaughter, it is clear that the legislature intended only to criminalize the conduct of third parties who kill the "unborn child" and not a pregnant woman who suffers a stillbirth or miscarriage. On several occasions, bills have been proposed in the Mississippi Legislature providing that "[a]ny death of an unborn child of twenty (20) weeks or more gestational age, resulting from the use by the mother of any illegal controlled substance during the mother's

pregnancy..., shall be manslaughter to be charged against the mother." (App. A-3, A-4, A-5, A-7). However, none of those bills have ever been passed. Another bill was proposed to make a pregnant woman guilty of felonious abuse if she tests positive for controlled substances on two occasions while pregnant. That bill also failed. (App. A-13). An examination of other provisions of Mississippi law that address pregnancy also demonstrate that the state does not, as a matter of policy. seek to punish pregnant women for the outcome of their pregnancies. For example, the legislature made it a crime for physicians to perform partial-birth abortions, but specifically provided that women who seek and obtain such an abortion cannot be prosecuted. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-73. (App. A-8). Similarly, the legislature passed a prospective abortion statute, to take effect if Roe v. Wade is overruled, that criminalizes the conduct of doctors and others who procure abortions, but specifically excludes "the pregnant woman" from prosecution. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-45. (App. A-9). Given that the legislature has not sought to penalize women who deliberately seek to end a pregnancy by obtaining a partial-birth abortion, it follows that it would not use the criminal law to punish pregnant women who experience unintentional stillbirths, even where the pregnant woman has done or failed to do something that may have caused the stillbirth.

- 4. Even if there were ambiguity about whether the criminal law permitted prosecution in this situation, "criminal statutes are to be *strictly* construed against the State and *liberally* in favor of the accused." <u>Tipton v. State</u>, 41 So. 3d 679, 682 (Miss. 2010) (citation omitted, emphasis in original).
- 5. Interpreting the criminal law in the manner sought by the prosecution would lead to illogical and counterproductive results not intended by the legislature. Such an interpretation would subject every pregnant woman who suffers a miscarriage and stillbirth to investigation and

prosecution based upon a claim that her loss was caused by her actions or inactions, including smoking, drinking alcohol, using drugs, using prescription-drugs, or failing to follow advice regarding conditions such as obesity and hypertension. Any number of actions or inactions could be deemed by law enforcement officials to be "eminently dangerous" since it is now well established that many activities, including smoking cigarettes and drinking alcohol, are at least as likely to risk harm as the use of illegal drugs. It could increase risks to the health of children, born and unborn, by deterring women from seeking prenatal care to avoid discovery of addictions or conditions they could not overcome in the short length of pregnancy. It could encourage them to seek abortions rather than risk being prosecuted for homicide if they could not guarantee a healthy birth outcome. Absent a specific statute, the Court should not presume that the legislature intended these consequences.

- 6. With only one exception, every state appellate court to address the issue has declined to interpret existing criminal laws to reach and punish drug-using or addicted pregnant women who attempt to carry their pregnancies to term.
- 7. Interpreting the criminal law to encompass the allegations in this case would violate the state and federal constitutions in numerous respects.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEPRAVED- HEART HOMICIDE STATUTE, §97-3-19(1)(B), DOES NOT ENCOMPASS "UNBORN CHILDREN," AND MISSISSIPPI'S LAWS DO NOT AUTHORIZE CRIMINAL PROSECUTION OF PREGNANT WOMEN WHO SUFFER UNINTENTIONAL STILLBIRTHS AND MISCARRIAGES DUE TO THEIR ACTIONS OR INACTIONS

The prosecution is asking the courts of this State to radically re-write state law to permit the prosecution and punishment of women because they become pregnant and suffer an unintended

stillbirth or miscarriage that allegedly is due to their own actions or inactions. However, as written, the criminal statutes do not authorize that sort of prosecution, even where the allegation is that they used an illegal drug. As the Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized, "[t]he court cannot create a law . . . [i]ts sole power is to enforce the statute as written by the Legislature." State v. Traylor, 56 So. 521, 522–23 (Miss. 1911). See Miss. Const. Ann. Art. 1 §2 ("[n]o person . . . belonging to one of these departments, shall exercise any power properly belonging to either of the others.").

A. The Depraved-Heart Homicide Statute, Mississippi Code § 97-3-19(1)(b), By Its Plain Language, Does Not Apply to Harm to Unborn Children.

A statute must be interpreted "according to its plain meaning." Finn v. State, 978 So.2d 1270, 1272 (Miss. 2008). "All words and phrases contained in the statutes [of Mississippi] are used according to their common and ordinary acceptation and meaning." Miss. Code. Ann. § 1-3-65 (2010) (A-10). The non-capital murder statute, Miss. Code § 97-3-19(1), reads as follows:

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