IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RENNIE T. GIBBS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-IA-0819

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: SCOTT STUART

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

The State adopts its argument made in the preceding subsection. The only possibility of ambiguity is found in the reading of Miss. Code Ann., § 97-3-19, and the State does not concede that it is ambiguous.

F.

Gibbs argues that most other states have refused to charge criminally those pregnant women who use drugs during their pregnancies.

Our concern for the purpose of this interlocutory appeal is whether existing Mississippi law allows prosecuting pregnant women whose babies are stillborn as a result of intentionally smoking crack cocaine during their pregnancies. The question to be decided is whether the alleged facts of the instant case give rise to prosecution under Mississippi state law for depraved heart murder, felony murder(non-capital), or manslaughter. With all due respect, the interpretation by other states of their state laws does not assist in determining how Mississippi

construes its murder and manslaughter statutes.

PROPOSITION II.

PROSECUTING GIBBS AS INDICTED WOULD NOT VIOLATE THE UNITED STATES OR MISSISSIPPI CONSTITUTIONS.

A.

Gibbs agues that the statutory language does not give any notice that she could be indicted under the depraved heart murder statute after experiencing a stillbirth. Therefore, she was denied her right to notice under the due process clause that she could be charged.

A conviction fails to comport with due process if the statute under which it is obtained fails to provide a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what is prohibited, or is so standardless that it authorizes or encourages seriously discriminatory enforcement. *U.S. v. Williams*, 553 U.S. 285, 286 (2008); *Hill v. Colorado*, 530 U.S. 703, 732 (2000).

Miss. Code Ann., § 97-3-19, puts persons on notice that they are prohibited from engaging in the "... commission of an act eminently dangerous to others and evincing a depraved heart, regardless of human life, although without any premeditated design to effect the death of any particular individual." Additionally, Mississippi law serves notice on anyone indicted charged for murder that their indictment includes all lesser included offenses, including, but not limited to, manslaughter. § 97-3-19(3).

Gibbs also argues that, if the court interprets Miss. Code Ann., § 97-3-19(b) to apply to the facts of her circumstance, that the Court should not apply the statute to her because it would be a retroactive application. Regarding the claim of retroactive application, the issue cannot be resolved without first knowing the facts. It is only retroactive if it is assumed that § 97-3-19(1)(b) did not already charge depraved heart murder for a circumstance, as in Gibbs's situation,

when smoking crack cocaine while pregnant caused the death of the unborn child she was carrying. Whether or not the statute applies to the facts in the instant case is one of the issues yet to be decided by this litigation along with the application of the various manslaughter statutes.

B.

Gibbs argues that applying Miss. Code Ann., § 97-3-19(1)(b) to pregnancy and birth would render the statute unconstitutionally vague. She claims that pregnant women would not know which of life's activities and circumstances would subject them to prosecution. This situation would invite arbitrary and capricious decisions by prosecutors to bring criminal charges against women after stillbirths or miscarriages.

A person of ordinary intelligence is on notice that smoking crack cocaine by itself subjects pregnant women to prosecution for possession of cocaine. A person of ordinary intelligence knows that smoking crack cocaine could be an act imminently dangerous to human life and is prohibited by law. *U.S. v. Williams*, 553 U.S. 285, at 286.

C.

Gibbs claims applying the statute would violate her right to privacy. She argues that Mississippi recognizes that reproductive rights, including the right to carry a pregnancy to term, are included in the right to privacy. She further claims that applying the statute at issue does not rationally advance any legitimate state interest. The State responds that reproductive rights and privacy rights in general do not include the right to smoke crack cocaine without sanction.

D.

Gibbs argues the following: Applying the statute to pregnancy and birth would violate the right to equal protection. State action that burdens women because of pregnancy is gender discrimination. Singling out women for special penalties because they become pregnant is

discrimination because of gender and must be supported by an "exceptionally persuasive justification." Criminalizing drug-using females who are pregnant while not penalizing the father who consumed equal amounts of the illegal drug without an exceedingly persuasive justification would burden the women more harshly than men. Amici also suggests that prosecuting Gibbs for murder is an Equal Protection Clause violation because "although men's actions may contribute to pregnancy outcomes . . . a man's drug use would not be punishable at all" under the statute in question.

Even criminal statutes applicable only to a particular class will be upheld so long as "the gender classification is not invidious, but rather realistically reflects the fact that the sexes are not similarly situated in certain circumstances." *Michael M. v. Superior Court of Sonoma County*, 450 U.S. 464, 469, (1981). In upholding a California statutory rape law under which only males could be prosecuted, the United States Supreme Court noted that "the Equal Protection Clause does not demand that a statute necessarily apply equally to all persons or require things which are different in fact ... to be treated in law as though they were the same. Id. (internal quotations omitted). Clearly, Mississippi's murder statute is neutral on its face as it does not target a particular class. The State's theory of prosecution in this case is not based on invidious discrimination: It is simply a theory that cannot be applicable to men or non-pregnant women because those classes of persons are different in fact and cannot be treated in law as though they were the same under this particular prosecution theory of murder.

Ε.

Regarding PROPOSITION 2(E), that prosecution under the indictment would violate the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment, Gibbs has not yet been found guilty of any crime or ordered to be punished for any crime. The claim of cruel and unusual punishment

cannot be evaluated because the Court has not yet ordered any punishment. Both *Amendment VIII of the United States Constitution* and § 28 of the *Mississippi Constitution* say that cruel and unusual punishment shall not be inflicted.

RESPONSE TO AMICI BRIEFS

Five amici briefs were filed in this case. Each of these briefs assert various policy arguments and authorities in support thereof; however, these arguments and authorities are not applicable to the issue before the Court at this time. As noted above, the only issues raised on interlocutory appeal are simply whether the depraved heart murder statute applies to the limited facts we know at this time and whether prosecuting Gibbs as indicted would violate the Mississippi or United States Constitutions. Thus, the only applicable arguments and authorities concern the statutes at issue, case law regarding said statutes, and Mississippi law regarding statutory interpretation. The policy arguments and various authorities cited in support of these arguments may or may not be applicable to this case on direct appeal, if a direct appeal is necessary after Gibbs's trial. At this point, however, they are simply not applicable.

Nonetheless, the State will briefly address the legal arguments raised in the amici briefs which are relevant to the procedural posture of this case.

Brief for Amici Curiae Interested Human Rights Organizations and Academics

In the Brief for Amici Curiae Interested Human Rights Organizations and Academics, it is argued first that "the Supreme Court of the State of Mississippi regularly engages in comparative legal analysis to interpret state law and should consider human rights law in this instance as a source of comparative analysis." (Amici's brief at 1). As stated above, the ONLY legal authority applicable at this time are the statutes at issue, Mississippi case law regarding said statutes, and Mississippi law regarding statutory interpretation.

The second argument made is that "prosecuting Ms. Gibbs for murder contravenes

Mississippi's fundamental constitutional commitments to respect human dignity, the prohibition
on cruel and unusual punishment, non-discrimination, and the ban on ex post facto laws."

(Amici's brief at 6). The State would respond, first, by noting that there is no authority to
support the assertion that indicting Gibbs for violating a Mississippi statute contravenes

Mississippi's fundamental constitutional commitments to respect human dignity. Second, any
arguments regarding cruel and unusual punishment are premature as Gibbs has not been
convicted of any crime and, therefore, has not been sentenced. Additionally, the argument that
"the mere act of prosecuting Ms. Gibbs . . . constitutes cruel, inhuman, or degrading treatment" is
without legal foundation. Finally, the indictment does not violate the ban on ex post facto laws
as the statute under which Gibbs was indicted has been in effect for many years prior to the act at
issue. Simply because this is the first prosecution under this particular theory does not make it a
violation of the ban against ex post facto laws.

Brief for Amici Curiae Jackson Area National Organization for Women et al

The majority of the brief for Amici Curiae Jackson Area National Organization for Women et al recites this country's unsavory history of discrimination against women and cites to a melange of cases that are wholly unrelated to the issue presently before this Court, that is, whether a pregnant woman may be prosecuted for murder in this State for killing her unborn child by intentionally ingesting an illegal substance. The legal arguments in Amici's brief are that such a prosecution would violate Gibbs's right to equal protection under the law and substantive due process rights.

Amici suggests that prosecuting Gibbs for murder is an Equal Protection Clause violation because "although men's actions may contribute to pregnancy outcomes . . . a man's drug use

would not be punishable at all" under the statute in question. (Amici's brief at 9). The State has already addressed this argument in responding to the same claim raised in the Appellant's Brief. The State's theory of prosecution in this case is not based on invidious discrimination: It is simply a theory that cannot be applicable to men or non-pregnant women because those classes of persons are different in fact and cannot be treated in law as though they were the same under this particular prosecution theory of murder. *Michael M.*, 450 U.S. at 469.

Amici also suggests that prosecuting Gibbs for murder is a due process violation because allowing such a prosecution "leaves women with the unconstitutional choice of either having an abortion or facing prosecution." Amici's brief at 10. Amici's argument is based on the fallacies that Gibbs was making a medical decision about her pregnancy and that she is being prosecuted for having a "coincidental stillbirth." A plain reading of the indictment shows that the State is neither attempting to interfere with a pregnant woman's right to make medical decisions or prosecuting her for having a "coincidental stillbirth." The State seeks to prosecute Gibbs for intentionally committing an illegal act which resulted in the death of her unborn child.

The remainder of Amici's brief is simply a slippery slope argument which expresses a concern that if the State is allowed to proceed with a murder prosecution in the present case, pregnant women may thereafter be prosecuted for miscarriages which are unrelated to illegal drug use. Again, the Court should not be concerned with such a claim because the only issue before the Court at this time is whether a pregnant woman can be prosecuted for murder under the laws of this State for intentionally ingesting an illegal substance which results in the death of an unborn child.

Brief for Amicus Curiae Mississippi Psychological Association

In the brief of the amicus curiae Mississippi Psychological Association (hereinafter "the

Association") it is argued that fear of prosecution will deter pregnant drug abusers from seeking health and substance abuse treatment. These arguments are merely policy arguments and are, as stated above, not applicable to the limited legal issues before the Court at this time.

The Association is also concerned that if the State is allowed to proceed with a murder prosecution in the present case then psychologists and other mental health professionals will face the ethical and legal dilemma of disclosing patient confidences related to illegal drug use. The State would submit that mental health professionals already face legal and ethical dilemmas in their practices today; the prosecution of Gibbs for murdering her unborn child in no way expands those dilemmas.

The Association advances the argument that Gibbs should not be prosecuted for murder because she is a drug addict and could not help ingesting narcotics while pregnant. In citing *Clayton v. State*, 652 So.2d 720 (Miss. 1995) for support, the Association basically argues that a woman addicted to drugs should not be held to a standard to which she is incapable of meeting, that is, cessation of drug use while pregnant. The State would respond that if the Court accepts the Association's argument as a defense then every drug addict who robs or steals to obtain money for drugs should not be held accountable for their actions.

Brief of Amici Curiae of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, et al

In the Brief for Amici Curiae of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists et al, it is argued first that Gibbs's prosecution is not substantiated by science. This argument is premature. There is very little in the record about the facts of this particular case and nothing at all about the evidence the State intends to use to establish the cause of Gibbs's stillbirth. In support of this assertion the amici argues that "cocaine has not been found to cause stillbirths" and that "the pathologist's conclusions are not supported by science." (Amici's brief at 5 and 7). These issues

would be more properly raised during trial before or during the State's expert witness testimony regarding the cause of Gibbs's stillbirth. The pathologist's findings and the basis for those findings could be fleshed out before the trial court and this Court would have a record to rely on in deciding the issue. At this time, the record is simply not capable of supporting true analysis of these issues.

It is also argued that Gibbs's prosecution will harm the health of mothers and children in that it will "deter drug-dependent women and girls from seeking health care," "will deter pregnant women and girls from sharing vital information with their doctors," and will "discourage women and girls from carrying pregnancies to term." (Amici's brief at 8 and 10). These arguments are merely policy arguments and are, as stated above, not applicable to the limited legal issues before the Court at this time.

Finally, it is argued that this prosecution "reflects a misunderstanding of the nature of addiction." (Amici's brief at 12). As noted in response to a similar argument made by the Association, if the Court accepts this argument, like the argument of the Association, as a defense then every drug addict who robs or steals to obtain money for drugs should not be held accountable for their actions because of their addiction.

Brief of Amici Curiae Legal Voice et al

The brief for Amici Curiae Legal Voice et al focuses on the fact that women who experience stillbirths grieve, and numerous factors can contribute stillbirths. Amici also claims that there is no scientific evidence to prove a causal connection with a pregnant woman's cocaine consumption and a subsequent stillbirth. This amici brief further highlights the fact that a majority of the issues presented by defense counsel and amici are not ripe for review. Obviously, the State would have to prove that Gibbs's cocaine consumption contributed the death of her unborn child before a jury could return a verdict for either murder or manslaughter. The State would necessarily employ expert

testimony, and Gibbs will be free to present her own experts to make the claims presented in amici's brief. However, at this time, the Court need only determine whether the State can proceed with the prosecution.

CONCLUSION

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